IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LEE HOBART,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC13-2

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0648825
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8500
nada.carey@flpd2.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

Robert Hobart had been addicted to drugs for many years.

In September 2010, Hobart's drug of choice was Roxicodone pills, or Roxies, a form of oxycodone. Robert Hamm ("Little Mack") and his girlfriend, Tracie Tolbert, were the drug dealers Hobart used to obtain his supply of drugs. Hamm and Tolbert engaged in "doctor-shopping," meaning they bought prescription pain medication, used some of it, and then sold some. Hobart was friends with Hamm and Tolbert and had known Little Mack since high school. T1:120, 131, 139, 151-152.

On September 22, around 3:30 p.m., Lee Langham was driving on Jesse Allen Road when he saw two white men looking under the hood of a brown SUV. A woman got in the car and tried to crank it. When Langdon came back down the road five minutes later, he saw one of the men and the woman standing by the car. T1:54-57.

Around 4:30 that afternoon, Kenny Owens was returning to his home on Jesse Allen Road when he saw blood on the roadway. He stopped and, following the blood trail, found Tolbert's body in the bushes on the north side of the road. After phoning the police, something caught Owens' eye in the bushes on the other side of the road, and he found Hamm's body. T1:59-61.

Police found a wallet with a photo ID and a fillet knife in Hamm's back pockets. There was no cash in the wallet. One of Hamm's shoes was off, and a baseball cap was on the ground. No cell phones were found.

At 1 a.m., police located Hamm's gold Ford Explorer in the parking lot of the Winn-Dixie on Dogwood, a 15-minute drive from the crime scene. Blood was on the center console, driver's seat, steering wheel, and running board. T1:44-45, 73-75, T4:430. Tolbert's purse was on the floorboard, with her wallet and three medication bottles inside. The pill bottles contained Xanax (alprazolam), Hydrocodone, and Soma.² The Hydrocodone prescription was dated September 21, 2013, and was for 60 pills. No money was in the wallet. T4:413-14. Also in the front seat was a metal rod, a stick, and a shell casing. A projectile was on the rear seat, driver's side. T4:428-430.

When police returned the next day to the area where Hamm's body was found, they found sunglasses with a missing earpiece, the missing earpiece, a projectile, and a hair. The hair was in a spider web above the path to Hamm's body. They also found a shell casing on the shoulder of the road. T1:63, T2:219.

² Soma is a habit-forming muscle relaxer that should never be given to persons with a drug abuse history. www.drugs.com/soma.html.

DNA tests excluded Hamm and Tolbert as contributors to the hair. Hobart, along with 1 out of every 80 individuals could not be excluded. T4:492-97. A swab of DNA from Tolbert's left arm matched Hobart, along with 1 out of every 32 Caucasians. T4:463. Tolbert was the major contributor to the blood found on the steering wheel of the gold Explorer. T4:458-60.

The medical examiner testified that Hamm had a single gunshot wound to the back of the head, three inches right of center. The bullet exited his left eyebrow. T3:377, 385.

There was no gunpowder associated with the wound, indicating it was a distant wound. Tolbert was shot twice. One bullet went into her left hand, came out of her hand, and entered her ear.

The entrance wound to the hand had stippling, indicating it was fired from a distance of between an inch to two feet. The other bullet entered the ear very close to the first bullet, again showing stippling. The bullets exited the right side of her face, one in the temple and one in the cheek. T3:380.

Police talked to various people associated with Hamm and Tolbert, including Robert Hobart and his brother, Harold. On October 4, they talked to Robert. In that interview, which was videotaped and played for the jury, Hobart said he and Little Mack were friends and had grown up together. He also was friends with Tracie and had known her for nine years. The day

they were killed, Hobart walked to the smoke shop near Winn-Dixie around 1 or 2 p.m. and bought two Roxies from them for \$20 each. Tolbert had called earlier and said she was going to have some pills to get rid of. Asked if he knew them to rip anyone off, he said they both had ripped off a lot of people. Mack had ripped him off a couple of times by taking his money and not coming back with the pills, but he took care of it later. Mack carried a pistol once and always had a knife of some kind. Hobart denied involvement in the murders and consented to having his DNA taken. T2:125-74.

On October 14 and 15, police interviewed Harold Hobart. A couple of days later, Harold brought the police a Taurus 9 mm semiautomatic pistol. T2:175-76. The casings and projectiles found at the crime scene had been fired from the Taurus. T4:447, 449. The major contributor to DNA from the grip and trigger matched Robert Hobart. One in 35 million Caucasians would be a match. T4:464.

On November 23, after getting the ballistics and DNA reports on the gun, police interviewed Robert Hobart again. The ten-minute interview also was videotaped and played for the jury. T2:177. In the interview, police told Hobart that his brother, Harold, had taken Hamm and Tolbert to a doctor and then to a pharmacy in Cantonment the day they were killed and that

the casings and projectiles matched Harold's gun. At one point, they asked Hobart if the murder was cold-blooded, and Robert responded, "I'm not going to say anything to incriminate myself, you know, I mean . . . I will say no. It was not, you know, it was not in cold blood." T2:181-87.

Video surveillance tapes from various locations were introduced at trial. A video from the Point Baker Tom Thumb showed Tracie Tolbert at the store at 2:56 p.m. the day she was killed. T2:242. The Tom Thumb was halfway between the Winn-Dixie on Dogwood Drive and the crime scene on Jesse Allen Road. A video from the Winn-Dixie showed an SUV-type vehicle park in the parking lot at 4 p.m. in the area where the gold Ford Explorer had been found and showed a person walking away from that area. T2:252-54. Video from the Park Avenue Laundry showed a gold Ford Explorer pull out of Saratoga Street at 2:41 and come through the parking lot. Hobart lived at the end of Saratoga Street, about a quarter of a mile from the Laundromat and the Winn-Dixie. The video also showed a person come into the camera's view and walk down Saratoga. T2:257-262.

Cell phone records showed that Robert Hobart called Tracie Tolbert at 11:54 a.m., 2:12 p.m., and 2:14 p.m. that day, and that Tracie called Hobart at 8:57 a.m., 2:15 p.m. and 2:23 p.m. Hobart received calls at 3:00 and 3:25, using the Point Baker

cell tower, and received a call at 4:05, using the Stewart Street tower, which covered the Winn-Dixie area. State Exhibits 14-19, 79-98; T2:204-216. Jason Wells, the investigator who provided this information, conceded that calls don't necessarily use the closest cell tower all the time. T2:226-27.

Harold Hobart, 37, testified that Hamm and Tolbert came to his house around 9:30 that morning. Harold drove them in his black Dodge truck to a doctor in Pace, and from there, to the pharmacy in Cantonment, where Tracie filled a prescription for Roxicodone. Harold helped pay for the pills in exchange for 20 pills, which he had done before. They got back to Harold's house around noon, and Tolbert and Hamm left. Harold was in Pensacola the rest of the day. Harold had guns in his room at that time, including the 9 mm Taurus, which he kept under the pillow or in the windowsill. After the police searched the room in October, the guns were gone. Harold later found out his friend Mike had the 9 mm, 3 and he retrieved it and turned it over to the police. Harold said Hamm and Tolbert had never owed him anything. T3:316-331.

³ Gail Hobart, Robert and Harold's mother, testified the police came to the house on October 5. After they left, her grandson found one of Harold's guns in Harold's room behind the curtain. Gail took the gun to a friend to get it out of the house. T3:314-15.

A surveillance tape showed Harold pulling into the Winn-Dixie parking lot in his truck at 3:24 p.m. that day and then entering the store. The video showed Harold leaving the store at 4:19 p.m. T3:333-36.

Records from the Cantonment Pharmacy showed that Tolbert filled a prescription written on September 22 for Roxicodone and Soma. T3:339. A receipt found in Harold Hobart's Dodge truck showed the pills were purchased at 11:19 a.m. T2:270-73.

Sandra Bruton testified that Hamm and Tolbert came by her house in the gold SUV between 11 and noon, or possibly later, the day they were killed. They dropped her off at Tom Thumb on Dogwood, and she gave them \$40 for two Roxies. They never came back with the pills. T3:341-44.

Autumn Pare testified Hamm and Tolbert came by her mother's house that day in Hamm's gold Explorer. They showed up between 10:15 and 10:30 and were there an hour, give or take 10 minutes. They had Lortab and Xanax. Tolbert had large wad of rolled-up bills, with twenties and other denominations. Autumn gave them \$150 for some Lortabs for Stev VonAxelson, who had given her the money. Autumn walked outside and gave the pills to VonAxelson, and he left. Autumn went back inside and talked to Tolbert, who left soon after for a doctor's appointment. T3:347-65.

Stev VonAxelson, 50, testified he had seven prior felonies, as well as pending federal charges for possession of two firearms by a convicted felon. VonAxelson was providing substantial assistance in six other cases. VonAxelson last saw Little Mack the day he died, sitting in Tracie's SUV at Autumn Pare's house between 9:30 and 10:00 a.m. VonAxelson went into Autumn's kitchen and bought 8-10 Lortabs for \$40-50 directly from Tracie, and Tracie and Little Mack left. VonAxelson said Robert Hobart talked to him twice about the murders while they were housed together at the jail in July 2012. In the first conversation, Hobart said he rode with Little Mack and Tracie to a secluded area where they went to inject pills, and he and Little Mack got into an argument. Hobart said he was pressured and arguing with Little Mack, that Little Mack owed his brother \$2,000, and they got out into the street fighting and punched each other a few times. Little Mack fell beside the vehicle and reached inside and got a piece of pipe, which he struck Hobart with several times. Hobart then drew a pistol and shot Little Mack twice in the chest. VonAxelson said he asked Hobart why he shot the girl, too, and he said he was all in, he had to, and that she was sitting in the driver's seat when he shot her. A week later, Hobart said he was bullshitting before, that he was "dope sick" and needed to "come up." VonAxelson asked Hobart

what size pistol he used, and he said a 9 mm. VonAxelson said he had not taken his mental health medication since the previous morning, which could affect his memory. T3:392-409.

Penalty Phase

Defense Case

Seven friends and family members testified on Hobart's behalf: his paternal aunt, Kathy Chavers; his sisters, Melissa Hall, 40, and Cindy Hobart, 41; his ex-girlfriend, Chrystal Worley, 38; his children, Robert Jr., 24, and Felicia, 21; and a longtime friend, Tina Rahn.

Kathy Chavers testified the family lived with her for several months when Robert was 4. Chavers took care of Robert, Cindy, and Melissa and did most of the work around the house while Robert's mother sat on the couch. When Melissa was born, her mom didn't want her and just left her. Chavers described her brother's interactions with his children as "non-existent." Neither mother nor father showed the children any affection. As a child, Robert was always "real sad" and "real quiet," a sweet little boy that you never knew was around. P1:50-60.

Hobart's sisters described a home of parental neglect, abuse, and tyranny. Robert was the oldest of four children, and while his father stayed outside in his shed working on cars, his

mother stayed in her bedroom, naked, drinking, and watching TV. P1:66-67, etc. She ordered the children to do all the work around the house, including cleaning, cooking, washing the clothes and dishes, and doing all the yard work, while she did nothing. They also had to bring her drinks and food and anything else she wanted. P1:65-67, 90. She punished them by beating them with a metal-enforced belt, wooden paddle, and switches, or by pulling their hair or throwing ashtrays at them. P1:71. Their father also beat them with the paddle and belt but mostly their mother. P1:92-93. She broke the paddle one day paddling Robert. She went outside and "was wailing" on him in front of the school bus full of kids and neighbors. time, she made him burn his entire collection of baseball cards, boxes full of them, in the front yard. He was devastated and left home soon after that, when he was 14, 15, or 16, and still in high school. P1:71-73.

Melissa often cooked dinner, and if their dad didn't like it, he threw it on the counter and walked out. Once, he tried to kick her, and when his shoe came off and went into the grease, he threw the entire rack of dishes outside. P1:70. Cindy testified that he once threw a plate, which broke and cut Cindy's leg, and that he threw the dish drainer out the front

door more than once. On weekends, he drove off into the woods and drank. P1:93-94.

Both girls were sexually abused by their father. He would use the shower at their end of the trailer instead of the bathroom by his bedroom, and that's where the sexual abuse took place initially. The sexual abuse began when Melissa was 11 or 12. He fondled Melissa but didn't have intercourse with her. P1:76-77. Cindy told her mother, and she talked to him, and he said "he couldn't help that I was so small that his arms went all the way around to touch my breast." And nothing happened. He then started coming in Cindy's room in the mornings and having sexual intercourse with her. He did this from age 11 to When Cindy was in ninth grade, she told the school counselor. Her mother "had no choice then" and she and the children moved out. Her father was never arrested though. Cindy has been hospitalized over 20 times for suicide attempts, depression, not being able to deal with the abuse, and her mother's manipulation and control. P1:97-100, 104.

Melissa left home before she finished high school "to get away from her," meaning their mother. "It's always abuse with her. It mentally is very draining." Nothing was ever good enough. P1:76-77. Melissa had two sons, but the judge gave them to her mother. Her sons did a lot of work for their

grandmother, too, but the mental abuse was not as severe. All of Gail Hobart's children tried to get away from her and don't speak to her most of the time. P1:78-79.

Robert started using pot in middle school, when he was 12, 13. P1:73-74. When he left, at 15, 16, he moved in with a friend and started roofing. He fell off the roof a few times, but he had a back, as does Cindy, even before he started roofing. He got jumped at Murphy's Lounge, was beat up badly, and was suffering from hypothermia when he made it home, naked but for a vest. P1:95-96.

Robert used pot, cocaine, alcohol, and heroin. P1:101. He lived in Alabama with their aunt Joanne for 3-4 years before the crime and was clean there. He was worried about falling back into drugs if he came back, but their mother begged him to move back. When he was on drugs, his face was sunk in and he was extremely skinny. When Melissa picked him up in Alabama, he looked healthy. After he moved back, he went back on the "O.C.'s," lost weight, and the acne came back, along with the sores on his arms and toes from using needles. Melissa could not believe this happened and said Robert is a good man, a good daddy, and a good brother. P1:80-82.

In September 2010, Robert's drug of choice was oxycodone pills, which he shot up. He was using heavily during the month

before the murders. Cindy had seen him shoot up. He didn't care who saw him, he did it in front of anybody. "When he's high, he's different." When he's not high, he's there for his kids. "My brother is a good guy. And if it weren't for the drugs, there's no way in heck that this would have ever occurred." P1:102-105.

Chrystal Worley met Robert Hobart when she was 17 and began dating him at 20. They lived together for six years. got rough when they started using drugs. They started with Nubian, shooting it into the muscle. Before that, Robert had used only pot. They used Nubian for a year, and then Robert started using oxycontin and morphine. Crystal had a prescription through Dr. Graves, "a drug-dealing doctor." Dr. Graves prescribed medication to people who didn't need it. Chrystal and Robert used intravenously for two years. kids came over on the weekends, holidays, and birthday, and he took care of them financially. They attempted detox once but left the detox center early. They didn't receive any counseling there. Crystal got clean in 1999. She flew to South Carolina with her parents to get away from the drugs. Withdrawal from oxycontin was "horrible." After a week or two, the withdrawal symptoms are gone, but "the urge never goes away." She and Robert had a house and possessions but they were sold to get

more drugs. They were homeless when she left, and the kids were living with Robert's mother, where they got a lot of spankings. Robert's mother was very controlling. The children did a lot for her, and she made them tend to her. If she needed something, she asked them to bring it to her. Robert's mother was originally keeping the kids temporarily until Robert and his ex-wife could get on their feet, but she ended up with custody. She got child support and was on welfare. P1:110-120.

Tina Rahm has known Robert for 22 years. Tina also was hooked on oxycontin, which she got from Dr. Graves. When she couldn't get the pills from Dr. Graves anymore, she bought them on the street. "[T]here is nothing like oxycontin addiction." Tina thought she was going to die coming off the drug. She "crawled" into Crisis Stabilization Unit when the drugs dried up on the streets. If she had been able to get a prescription, she would not have gone to the Crisis Unit. Tina has continued to write Robert since his arrest. P1:123-125.

Robert Hobart, Jr., testified that he loves his father.

His father made an attempt to be in his life, whereas his mother did not. Robert, Jr., lives in South Carolina with his girlfriend and son. He moved there to get away from drugs. He never saw his father use drugs but was around others who did.

When he was young, he stayed with his father on weekends,

holidays, and during the summer. They always had a good relationship. When his father was on drugs, he wasn't around. He writes his dad and visits him when he's in town. P2:200-208.

Felicia Hobart never saw her dad on drugs. She loves him and always will and has visited him in jail. P2:209-212.

Two experts testified for the defense.

Dr. Kevin Groom, a neuropsychologist, reviewed Hobart's school, medical, and infirmary records; talked to Hobart's sisters and his ex-girlfriend, Crystal; and met with Hobart for about 8 hours over a two-day period. He conducted an interview and administered neuropsychological testing. P1:129-31.

School records indicated Hobart scored 83 on an I.Q. test given in 7th grade (1982), which is in the low average to borderline range, and needed alternative education programs to help him learn. On Dr. Groom's testing, Hobart's full-scale I.Q score was 80, which is in the 9th percentile, or borderline intellectual functioning range, a step up from mild mental retardation. P1:131-32.

Dr. Groom also conducted neuropsychological testing, which separates people with healthy brains from those with brain damage (neurological deficit). A score way outside the normative response indicates a cognitive deficit. Hobart showed

deficits on the Stroop Color Word test,⁴ impairment on the Hopkins Verbal Learning test,⁵ and he had difficulty on a judgment test. He also had deficits for fine motor dexterity.⁶ P1:135-141.

Hobart's MMPI showed one elevated validity test, which could be the result of over-reporting or extensive drug use. His lower I.Q. could also interfere with how he processed some of the items. He had elevations on demoralization, low positive emotions, and antisocial behavior. People with an elevated antisocial scale are more likely to have a history of juvenile delinquency, substance abuse, and family problems. Another group of people with an elevated antisocial scale is law enforcement. P1:145-151.

Hobart saw psychiatry regularly in jail and was taking multiple psychotropic medications, including Risperdal, an antipsychotic, because he had complained of auditory

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