TGEGKXGF. '3413814235'334: 56. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC13-02

ROBERT LEE HOBART,

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

KATHERINE Y. MCINTIRE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0521159 1515 N. Flagler Dr. Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Appellee

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

In an attempt to dismantle the State's evidence proving his guilt, Hobart argues that certain facts, in and of themselves, do not dictate guilt. For example, Hobart questions the probative value of the fact that he brought a gun to the meet (IB 34) as well as the probative value of the fact that the

money and Oxycodone went missing (IB 37). However, guilt is not determined by a consideration of each fact in a vaccum. Instead, the jury must consider ALL circumstances surrounding the murders of Hamm and Tolbert.

At bar, the State provided competent evidence to sustain the first degree murder conviction as well as sufficient evidence to refute Hobart's hypothesis of innocence as to his intent, i.e. the proposition that he shot Hamm after Hamm struck him with a pipe during a fight over money. Accordingly, there was no error in the trial court's decision to submit the case to the jury where the only real issue of contention at trial was Hobart's intent. <u>See Asay v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991) ("Whether a premeditated design to kill was formed prior to a killing is a question of fact for the jury that may be established by circumstantial evidence.").

Finally, even assuming that the trial court erred in denying Hobart's motion for a judgment of acquittal as to premeditation, reversal is not warranted. At bar, Hobart was charged with committing the murders under either a premeditated design or during the commission of a robbery (RRv1 15). The jury returned a general guilty verdict. The law is clear that "[w]hile a general guilty verdict must be set aside where the general verdict may have rested on...a legally inadequate theory, reversal is not warranted...when there was an alternative theory

of guilt for which the evidence was sufficient." <u>Mungin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 689 So.2d 1026, 1030 (Fla. 1995). Should this determine that the evidence as described above and in the statement of facts was not sufficient to establish premeditation, it is certainly sufficient to establish that the murder was committed in the course of a robbery.

ISSUE II

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN HOBART'S FIRST DEGREE MURDER CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH THE MURDERS OF ROBERT HAMM AND TRACIE TOLBERT

Although Hobart has not raised the issue of the sufficiency of evidence to sustain his convictions, Appellee will address this issue as this Court is required to conduct an independent review to determine whether sufficient evidence exists to support the conviction. <u>See</u> Fla. R.App. P. 9.142(a)(6); <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 39 So.3d 296, 308 (Fla.), cert. denied, ---U.S. ----, 131 S.Ct. 520, 178 L.Ed.2d 384 (2010). The evidence in a capital case is judged to be sufficient when it is both competent and substantial. <u>See Phillips</u>, 39 So.3d at 308. This Court must "view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether 'a rational trier of fact could have found the existence of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.'" <u>Rodgers v. State</u>, 948 So.2d 655, 674 (Fla. 2006) (citing Bradley v. State, 787 So.2d 732, 738 (Fla. 2001)).

In this case, Hobart was charged with, and the jury was instructed on, both the first-degree premeditated murder and first-degree felony murder of Robert Hamm and Tracie Tolbert. The jury returned a general verdict of guilty as to both counts. As discussed above, "[a] general guilty verdict rendered by a jury instructed on both first-degree murder alternatives may be upheld on appeal where the evidence is sufficient to establish either felony murder or premeditation." <u>Crain v. State</u>, 894 So.2d 59, 73 (Fla. 2004).

Significant evidence was presented in support of the convictions for both Hamm and Tolbert's murder. With regard to Hobart's conviction for the murder of Robert Hamm, Appellee relies on the facts featured in the statement of facts and issue one of the instant brief in support of its position that a rational trier of fact could have found the elements of first-degree murder on both the theories of premeditated murder and felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Rodgers</u>, 948 So.2d at 674.

Turning to Hobart's conviction for the murder of Tracie Tolbert, again, significant evidence was presented to sustain his convictions on both theories advanced by the State. The State submitted evidence that per his own admission, Hobart was addicted to Oxycodone pills. As a result of his addiction, he needed Oxycodone pills on a daily basis. On the day of the

murders, Hobart arranged to meet Hamm and Tolbert to purchase Oxycodone pills as Tolbert "said she was going to have some to get rid of" (RTv16 132).

Although Hamm was never violent with Hobart, Hobart armed himself with a 9mm pistol before arriving to the meet. Hobart, Hamm and Tolbert went to a secluded wooded area on Jesse Allen Road. Although Hobart claimed that he and Hamm got into a physical altercation which led to the shooting of Hamm, the State refuted this contention with physical evidence as well as Hobart's subsequent admission that he killed Tolbert and Hamm because he was "dope sick and he needed to come up" (RTv17 403).

Further bolstering its case that Hobart had a fully formed conscious purpose to kill when he shot Tolbert, the State presented evidence that Tolbert was shot at close range while seated in the driver's seat of the Ford Explorer. One of the gunshot wounds went through the webbing of her hand before entering her head. This type of wound suggests that Tolbert saw Hobart coming with the gun and took the defensive posture of attempting to shield her head prior to being shot. This scenario is consistent with a portion of Hobart's initial admission to Vonaxelson that he killed Tolbert after killing Hamm because "he was all in [and]..had to"(RTv17 402), again, conceding premeditation. Finally, the State presented evidence that although Tolbert, by all accounts, was in possession of

Lortab and Xanax pills in addition to Oxycodone pills and a large amount of cash, the only items recovered from Tolbert's purse was the pills that Hobart was not addicted to: Lortab and Xanax. The Oxycodone and money were never recovered.

As the jury could have found the elements of first-degree murder on both the theories of premeditated murder and felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt based on these facts, substantial evidence was presented to support Hobart's convictions.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON AND FINDING AS AN AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE MURDER OF TRACY TOLBERT WAS COMMITTED DURING A ROBBERY (RESTATED)

Next, Hobart argues that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the felony murder/robbery aggravation an in finding same as for the murder of Tracie Tolbert. According to Hobart, "the circumstantial evidence did not prove a robbery was committed because it was plausible that the murders were triggered by a physical fight between Hobart and Hamm and that any pills Hobart took were taken as an 'afterthought' following the killings" (IB 40). He suggests that absent the felony murder aggravation, the jury may not have recommended death. Again, Hobart's position is wholly without merit as the evidence presented at trial was sufficient for the provision of the

instruction as well as the finding.

A court may give a jury instruction on aggravators if there is credible and competent evidence to support it. Hunter v. State, 660 So.2d 244, 252 (Fla. 1995); Welch v. State, 992 So.2d 206, 215-216 (Fla. 2008). Whether an aggravator exists is a factual finding reviewed under the competent, substantial evidence test. When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in Alston v. State, 723 So.2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt-that is the court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting Willacy v. State, 696 So.2d 693, 695(Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997); see also Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167, 191 (Fla. 2005); Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418, 432 (Fla. 2001).

A court may give a jury instruction on aggravators if there is credible and competent evidence to support it. <u>Hunter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So.2d 244, 252 (Fla. 1995); <u>Welch v. State</u>, 992 So.2d 206, 215-216 (Fla. 2008). It is not error for a court to give a proper instruction on the aggravator even if it could not have

existed as a matter of law. <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 612 So.2d 575 (Fla. 1993)(trial court instructed on HAC, but later found it unproved). Simply because the State does not prove an aggravating factor does not mean that there was insufficient evidence of the factor to allow a jury to consider it.

> The Legislature intended that the trial judge determine the sentence with advice and jury, guidance provided by a the one institution in the system of Anglo-American honored jurisprudence most for fair determinations of questions decided bv balancing opposing factors. If the advisory function were to be limited initially because the jury could only consider those mitigating and aggravating circumstances which the trial judge decided to be appropriate in a particular case, the statutory scheme would be distorted. The jury's advice would be preconditioned by the judge's view of what they were allowed to know. The judge should not in any manner inject his preliminary views of the proper sentence into the jurors' deliberations, for after the jury has rendered its advisory sentence the judge has the affirmative duty to decide the sentence in the context of his exposure to the law and his practical experience. As we acknowledged in Dixon, "to a layman, no capital crime might appear to be less than heinous, but a trial judge with experience in the facts of criminality" can serve as a buffer where the jury allows emotion to override the duty of a deliberate determination.

<u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133, 1140 (Fla. 1976); <u>Floyd v.</u> <u>State</u>, 497 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Fla. 1986); <u>Bowden v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 225, 231 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert. denied</u>, 503 U.S. 975 (1992) (where evidence of robbery presented, court must instruct

on the relevant aggravator even if the court later finds it unproved).

In the case subjudice, evidence of robbery was presented by the State so as to require the trial court's instruction on the aggravator that the murder was committed during that robbery. As explained above, Hobart, a self-admitted Oxycodone addict confessed he was "dope sick and needed to come up" (RTv17 403) to explain why he killed Tolbert and Hamm. Per his own admission, he was well-aware that Hamm and Tolbert, a couple from whom he routinely purchased pills, would be obtaining pills on the morning of September 22, 2010 so he arranged to meet them. Prior to that meeting, however, Hobart armed himself with his brother's 9mm pistol despite the fact that Hamm was never violent to Hobart.

As reported by Hobart and supported by cell phone records, he, Hamm and Tolbert went to Jesse Allen Road to shoot up pills. Hobart, however, had other plans in mind. Hobart killed both Hamm and Tolbert. He shot Hamm in the back of the head in the woods, leaving his hair caught in a spider web by the body. Hobart shot Tolbert twice on the left side of the face as she sat in her vehicle. Although by all accounts, Tolbert was seen in possession of Lortabs, Xanax, Oxycodone, and a large amount of money but the only items found in Tolbert's possession after her death were Lortabs, Xanax, and Soma. The Oxycodone pills

and the money were never recovered. This evidence was certainly sufficient to demonstrate that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery. Accordingly, there was no error in the trial court's instruction to the jury that they consider the aggravating circumstance that the murder occurred during the commission of a robbery.

There was also no error in the trial court's finding that Tracie Tolbert's murder was committed during the commission of a robbery. In sentencing Hobart to death, the trial court explained:

> The second aggravating circumstance offered by the state is that the capitol felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery. The defendant admitted during an interview with law enforcement that he was addicted to Roxicodone, and he knew the victims were going to have Roxicodone to sell on the day of the murders. He also acknowledged that he planned to meet with them once they had actual possession of the pills. Phone records show that after Tracie Tolbert filled a prescription for 90 Roxicodone pills at a pharmacy in Escambia County, several calls were made between the victim's phone and the defendant's phone that same day. No money and no Roxicodone was found on the victims anywhere inside the SUV or inside Tracie Tolbert's purse which was located inside the SUV. At the request of the defense, the court gave the following instruction to the jury during the guilt phase of the trial. "The taking of property after a murder where the motive for the murder was not the taking of the property, is not robbery." Where an after-thought argument is raised, the defendant's theory

is carefully analyzed in light of the entire circumstances of the incident. If there is competent, substantial evidence to uphold the robbery conviction and no other motive for the murder appears from the record, the robbery conviction will be upheld. Conversely, in those cases where the record discloses that in committing the murder, the defendant was apparently motivated by some reason other than a desire to obtain the stolen valuable, a conviction for robbery or the robbery aggravator will not be upheld. Von Axelson testified Steven that the defendant first told him he had gone to a secluded area with the victims where he and Robert Hamm argued about \$2000 that Hamm supposedly owed to the defendant's brother. They got into a fight. Hamm removed the metal pipe from the SUV and struck the defendant two or three times with it. The defendant said he then shot Hamm twice in However, this the chest. version is inconsistent with the other evidence and testimony in the case. For example, Robert Hamm was not shot in the chest two times. He was shot once in the back of the head. No evidence was presented that a metal pipe was found at the murder scene or inside the SUV. No evidence was presented that the defendant had any injuries consistent with having been struck by an object of any kind, finally the defendant's and brother testified that neither of the victims ever owed him anything, and they did not owe him \$2000 on September the 22nd, 2010. Mr. Von Axelson testified that the defendant later recanted this story and said the real reason he shot the victims was because he was dope sick and had to come up. Based on the entire circumstances of the incident, the court finds that no other motive for the murder appears from the record other than robbery. The defendant was addicted to Roxicodone. The victims were in possession of 90 Roxicodone pills within hours of the No Roxicodone pills were found on murder. the victims or in their SUV after the

murders. The defendant told Steven Von Axelson he killed the victims because he was dope sick and had to come up. This indicates that the motive for the murders was dope...In this case, the instant case, no Roxicodone was left at the scene of the crime or in the victim's SUV. Therefore the court finds that this aggravator has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and is entitled to great weight.

(RTv23 10-13)

As explained above and in the statement of facts featured in this pleading, the record is replete with competent, substantial evidence to support these findings. As the trial court's findings are supported by the record, Hobart is not entitled to relief.

Moreover, even if this Court struck the aggravating circumstance that Tolbert's murder was committed during a robbery, the harmless error standard test is applied to determine whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence. <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 878 So.2d 1246, 1268 (Fla. 2004) ("Striking [an] aggravator necessitates a harmless error analysis."). In addition to finding that the capital felony was committed while Hobart was engaged in the commission of a robbery, the trial court also determined that Hobart was previously convicted of another capital felony (the murder of Robert Hamm) or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person (a 1989 aggravated battery

conviction) (RRv7 1229).

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